
 

 

 

Dare County Tourism Board Meeting 
 

Thursday, January 19, 2023 
9:00 a.m. 

 
 
 

Curtis H. Creech Boardroom 
Outer Banks Visitors Bureau Administrative Offices 

One Visitors Center Circle 
Manteo, NC 27954 



2023 
 

2023 Dare County Tourism Board  
 

 
Representing      Name 
 
 
Town of Duck      Councilwoman Monica Thibodeau 
 
 
Town of Southern Shores     Councilman Leo Holland 
 
  
Town of Kitty Hawk     Councilman David Hines 
 
  
Town of Kill Devil Hills     Commissioner Ivy Ingram 
 
  
Town of Nags Head      Mayor Pro Tem Mike Siers 
 
 
Town of Manteo      Commissioner Tod Clissold 
 
 
Dare County Commissioners    Commissioner Ervin Bateman 
 
 
Outer Banks Chamber of Commerce   Richard Hess 
 
 
Outer Banks Association of REALTORS®  Gray Berryman 
 
 
Outer Banks Restaurant Association   Mark Ballog 
 
 
Outer Banks Hotel/Motel Association   Tonia Cohen 
 
 
Hatteras Island At Large     Dennis Robinson 
 
 
Member At Large      Tim Cafferty 
          



DARE COUNTY TOURISM BOARD MEETING 
THURSDAY, JANUARY 19, 2023 

9:00 A.M. 
OUTER BANKS VISITORS BUREAU ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES 

ONE VISITORS CENTER CIRCLE 
MANTEO, NC 27954 

 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

I. Call to Order    
 
II. Pledge of Allegiance & Moment of Silence  
 
III. Swearing in of New Directors 
     
IV. Election of Officers    

1. Slate of Candidates for the 2023 Dare County Tourism Board Steering Committee 
 
V. Approval of Agenda    
 
VI. Approval of Minutes from the December 15, 2022 Meeting  
 
VII. Public Comments   
     
VIII. Budget & Finance Report  
 
IX.       Outer Banks Visitors Bureau Updates   
 
X.  Old Business  
  
XI.        New Business 
   
XII. Board Member Comments 
 
XIII. Set: 
  1. Meeting Schedule for 2023   
  2. Date, Time, and Place of Next Meeting  
 
XIV. Adjournment 
 
     
 



 

 

2023 Dare County Tourism Board 
Proposed Slate of Candidates 

 
 
 

Chair       Tim Cafferty   
  
  

Vice Chair      Monica Thibodeau 
    

 
Treasurer      Ervin Bateman  

  
 

Asst. Treasurer     Ivy Ingram   
  
 

Secretary      David Hines   
   



	

December 15, 2022 Dare County Tourism Board  1 

RECORD OF MINUTES 
DARE COUNTY TOURISM BOARD 
THURSDAY, DECEMBER 15, 2022 

9:00 A.M. 
OUTER BANKS VISITORS BUREAU ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES 

MANTEO, NC 27954 
 

 
ATTENDING:   
Tim Cafferty, Chair; Ervin Bateman, Treasurer; Ivy Ingram, Assistant Treasurer; Jamie Chisholm, Secretary; 
Mark Ballog, Gray Berryman, Bambos Charalambous, Leo Holland, Dennis Robinson, Mike Siers, and Jay 
Wheless, Legal Counsel. 
 
EXCUSED ABSENCE: Monica Thibodeau, Vice Chair; David Hines, and Bobby Owens. 
 
STAFF: 
Lee Nettles, Executive Director  
Diane Bognich, Director of Administration  
Amy Wood, Clerk to the Board/Administrative Specialist  
Aaron Tuell, Public Relations Manager 
 
OTHERS ATTENDING: Luke Halton, The OBX Way; Wally Overman, Dare County Commissioners; 
Patty O’Sullivan, Dare County Veteran’s Affairs Administrator; Anthony Imperiale, Ellen Aidoock, and 
Richard Probst, Dare County Veteran’s Advisory Council; Theresa Armendarez, Elizabethan Gardens; 
Debbie Luke and Kathy Sparrow, Outer Banks Sporting Events.  
 
The meeting was called to order at 9:00 a.m.  The Board then recited the pledge of allegiance, followed by a 
moment of silence.  
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA: Mr. Holland moved to approve the agenda. Second by Mr. Charalambous. 
There was no discussion. The motion passed unanimously (10-0). 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Ms. Ingram moved to approve the meeting minutes from November 17, 2022 
meeting.  Second by Ms. Chisholm. There was no discussion.  The motion passed unanimously (10-0). 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS:  Theresa Armendarez provided an update on WinterLights at Elizabethan Gardens. 
Debbie Luke and Kathy Sparrow reviewed the OBX Half Marathon and Marathon participation.  Luke Halton 
introduced the new walking trail, Jockey’s Trail. 
 
PRESENTATIONS: Wally Overman and Patty O’Sullivan gave a presentation on The Wall That Heals, 
which will be on display at the Soundside Event Site in November 2023.  
 
John DeLucia and Chris Nason updated the Board on the progress of permits and design of the boardwalk at 
the Soundside Event Site. 
 
Jonathan Dail presented the Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Audit.  The Board received an unmodified opinion.  
Following review, Mr. Bateman moved to accept the Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Audit. Second by Mr. Holland. 
There was no discussion.  The motion passed unanimously (10-0). 
 
CHAIRMAN’S REPORT:  The Chair noted past and upcoming town hall presentations. Outgoing members 
were recognized and spoke about their time on the Board.  
 
Jamie Chisholm was excused at 10:00 a.m. 



	

December 15, 2022 Dare County Tourism Board  2 

 
BUDGET AND FINANCE REPORT:  Mr. Bateman reviewed the meals and occupancy receipts received.  
Receipts for fiscal year 2022-2023 are up 6.68% compared to 2021-2022 actual receipts.   
 
OUTER BANKS VISITORS BUREAU UPDATES: Lee Nettles reviewed: 

• The 2022 Dare County State of Tourism newsletter 
• 2023 Official Outer Banks Travel Guide 
• Reviewed new marketing effort ‘Raw OBX” and shared new commercial 
• Marketing Dashboard and visitation figures 
• Reviewed Group Sales recent missions  

 
Aaron Tuell reviewed recent media efforts.  
 
OLD BUSINESS:  There was no old business before the Board. 
 
NEW BUSINESS:  The Chair noted that the Steering Committee reviewed and denied two grant requests that 
did not fit the guidelines.  The recipients were notified and understood.   
 
BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS:  The Chair reminded the Board of the upcoming 119th Celebration of 
Flight on December 17th.  
 
Mr. Holland noted the recent hearing in the Mid Currituck Bridge lawsuit and briefly discussed the beach 
nourishment efforts in Southern Shores.  
 
Mr. Ballog noted the four restaurants who are participating in the Christmas theme program. 
 
Mr. Robinson noted that Hatteras Island is seeing meals and occupancy flattening out. 
 
Mr. Berryman noted a new President for the Outer Banks Association of Realtors and noted that house sales, 
and building permits, were still strong.  
 
Mr. Charalambous thanked the Board for all their efforts and hard work. 
 
Mr. Bateman noted the County Commissioners continue to work on essential housing.  
 
SET DATE, TIME, AND PLACE OF NEXT MEETING: The next meeting is scheduled for  
9:00 a.m. on Thursday, January 19, 2023, at the Curtis Creech Memorial Boardroom, Outer Banks Visitors 
Bureau Administrative Office, Manteo, NC. 
  
The meeting adjourned at 10:39 a.m. 
 
ATTESTED: 
 
 
_________________________________________________ 
Clerk, Dare County Tourism Board 

















































































TOURISM SALES & EVENTS | INDUSTRY RELATIONS ACTIVITY – JANUARY 2023 
 
Recent Trade Show Activity: 
 
AENC (Association Executives of North Carolina) Annual Trade Show | 
December 7-8, 2022: 
 
AENC is an organization of executive meeting planners in North Carolina. Bureau staff exhibited at this 
show to showcase the Outer Banks as a meeting, incentive and/or retreat destination. This is the only 
meeting planning show attended by the Bureau. The following industry partners participated with us in 
our booths: Hilton Garden Inn/Kitty Hawk, Ramada Plaza, Haven on the Banks and Sanderling Resort. 
All sales leads have been sent out to our Tourism Partners. 
               
 
Future Trade Show Dates and Locations:  
Staff is currently scheduled for the following trade shows: 

• February 4-7, 2023: American Bus Association’s Marketplace, Detroit, MI 
• March 5 – 8, 2023: Visit 365, Asheville, NC  
• May 20-24, 2023: US Travel’s International Pow Wow, San Antonio, TX 
 

               
 
Restaurant Off-Season Hours:  
The Bureau is continuing to reach out to our local restaurant partners for their 2023 Winter hours. This 
list can be found on the homepage of outerbanks.org called Restaurant Winter Hours. If you’re 
restaurant is not listed or times needs to be updated, please let us know.  
               
 
The Soundside Event Site:  
Attached is the current 2023 Events Calendar for the Soundside Event Site for your review.  
 

https://www.outerbanks.org/restaurants/outer-banks-restaurant-openings/


Name of Event Date of Event Site Reserved

Outer Banks Bike Week April 26 – 29, 2023 April 25 - 30, 2023

OBX Rod and Custom Festival May 5- 6, 2023 May 3 – May 7, 2023

OBX Jeep Invasion May 12-13, 2023 May 11 - 14, 2023

Sundown N Sound (tentative) Friday May 26, 2023 Friday May 26, 2023

Sundown N Sound (tentative) Friday June 2, 2023 Friday June 2, 2023

Soundside Fun Fair June 8-11, 2023 June 6 – 12, 2023

Sundown N Sound (tentative) Friday June 16, 2023 Friday June 16, 2023

Sundown N Sound (tentative) Friday June 23, 2023 Friday June 23, 2023

Sundown N Sound (tentative) Friday June 30, 2023 Friday June 30, 2023

Sundown N Sound (tentative) Friday July 7, 2023 Friday July 7, 2023

Sundown N Sound (tentative) Friday July 14, 2023 Friday July 14, 2023

Sundown N Sound (tentative) Friday July 21, 2023 Friday July 21, 2023

Sundown N Sound (tentative) Friday July 28, 2023 Friday July 28, 2023

Sundown N Sound (tentative) Friday August 4, 2023 Friday August 4, 2023

Sundown N Sound (tentative) Friday August 11, 2023 Friday August 11, 2023

Sundown N Sound (tentative) Friday August 18, 2023 Friday August 18, 2023

Sundown N Sound (tentative) Friday August 25, 2023 Friday August 25, 2023

Sundown N Sound (tentative) Friday September 1, 2023 Friday September 1, 2023

Sumospeed Beach Bash September 15-16, 2023 September 15-16, 2023

Fall OBX Bike Week September 21-23, 2023 September 20-24. 2023

Garage Band Charities October 6-7, 2023 October 5 - 8, 2023

Outer Banks Seafood Festival Saturday, October 21, 2023 October 18-25, 2023

OBX Brewtag Saturday, October 28, 2023 October 25-31, 2023

Wall That Heals November 13-18, 2023 November 11-19, 2023

2023 Soundside Event Site Schedule 



 

 

Outer Banks Visitors Bureau 
 

PUBLIC RELATIONS REPORT: January 2023 
 
LOCAL TOURISM INDUSTRY NEWS 
Coastland Times | Dec-22 “Manteo Commissioners hear about Event Center” https://bit.ly/3BWyaxw 
Coastland Times | Dec-22 “Dare County’s business of tourism explained at Rodanthe meeting” http://bit.ly/3vxgCUS 
Island Free Press | Dec-22 “Tourism officials outline plans for new indoor event center at Rodanthe meeting”  
http://bit.ly/3FKNaRu 
Island Free Press | Dec-22 “OBVB to host public meeting on Long-Range Tourism Management Plan on Jan. 24 in 
Buxton” http://bit.ly/3Q5agpv 
Island Free Press + Outer Banks Voice| Dec-22 “’It’s a whole new beginning’; Graveyard of the Atlantic Museum is 
undergoing a transformation” Dare County and the Outer Banks Visitors Bureau stepped in with an extra $500,000 
in funds, which the state then bolstered with an additional $400,000, resulting in a total of $5.1 million to bring the 
remodeling project to life. http://bit.ly/3YD0oaq  
Outer Banks Voice | Dec-22 “Tourism numbers ‘soften’ in new collections data” http://bit.ly/3VCEfpN 

 
EARNED MEDIA 
 
Travel + Leisure | Nov-22 “25 Best Babymoon Destinations in the World ( #19 Outer Banks) http://bit.ly/3qsqhXT 
 
NC Trippin | Nov-22 “How to Explore the NC Oyster Trail (10+ Adventurous Ways!)” http://bit.ly/3X2kVU1 

 
Food & Wine | Dec-22 “13 Incredibly Cool Food Trails You Can Visit in the U.S.” http://bit.ly/3jPcNbc 
 
Carolinas Golf Magazine | Dec-22 “Coasts with the Most” https://bit.ly/3YgdRoa 

 
OUTERBANKS.ORG/BLOG  POSTS 
Written by Staff content coordinator Stephanie Hall  

 “Christmas Island | OBX Holiday Pop-Ups” http://bit.ly/3jnRLQO 
 

Written by content partners and collaborators 

 Carol Timblin “Mysteries of the Outer Banks of North Carolina” http://bit.ly/3WcOmmk 
 

 Outer Banks Forever “Accessibility In Our OBX National Parks” https://bit.ly/3WBqw3p 
 

 Hayley Hutson “The Solo Traveler’s Guide to the OBX” http://bit.ly/3ZoF9Jv 
 

CONTENT PARTNERSHIPS / IN DEVELOPMENT 
NC Oyster Trail in the Spotlight:  
Food & Wine | Dec-22 “These Will Be the Biggest Travel Trends of 2023, According to Experts” 
 "The NC Oyster Trail continues to attract media interest as PR professionals from the state tourism office and 
coastal counties work together to drive the narrative of what makes North Carolina such a special place to 
experience. The NC Oyster Trail begins on the Outer Banks and continues south through the Cape Fear region.” 
http://bit.ly/3UCQ6nb 
Supporting the trail, the Outer Banks Visitors Bureau produced the first NC Oyster Trail video for promotional 
sharing which you can view here: https://youtu.be/-UmYLaB_3Y4 
 
MEDIA MARKETPLACES 
 
International Media Marketplace (IMM) North America | Jan 24-27, 2023 -NYC  Hosted by the TravMedia industry 
networking platform, IMM is the first major marketplace of the year connecting public relations professionals with 
traditional journalists and social media influencers for an exchange of what’s new in our destinations with what 
trends the media is looking for to share with their audiences. 
 

https://bit.ly/3BWyaxw
http://bit.ly/3vxgCUS
http://bit.ly/3FKNaRu
http://bit.ly/3Q5agpv
http://bit.ly/3YD0oaq
http://bit.ly/3VCEfpN
http://bit.ly/3qsqhXT
http://bit.ly/3X2kVU1
http://bit.ly/3jPcNbc
https://bit.ly/3YgdRoa
http://bit.ly/3jnRLQO
http://bit.ly/3WcOmmk
https://bit.ly/3WBqw3p
http://bit.ly/3ZoF9Jv
http://bit.ly/3UCQ6nb
https://youtu.be/-UmYLaB_3Y4


Coastland Times |Mary Helen Goodloe - Murphy | Dec-22  
“Manteo Commissioners hear about Event Center”  

In two Dare County locations, tourism officials presented a concept for a proposed Event Center 

facility for the Event site in Nags Head. On Dec. 7, 2022, Manteo Board of Commissioners heard 

comments from Dare County Tourism Board Chairman Tim Cafferty and Outer Banks Visitors Bureau 

executive director Lee Nettles. https://bit.ly/3BWyaxw 

Coastland Times |Mary Helen Goodloe - Murphy | Dec-22 

“Dare County’s business of tourism explained at Rodanthe meeting” 

 In Rodanthe, Dare County tourism officials provided information about the business of the Dare 

County Tourism Board and Outer Banks Visitors Bureau before launching into an explanation of the 

proposed Event Center. Tim Cafferty, Tourism Board chairman, and Lee Nettles, Visitors Bureau executive 

director, made back-to-back presentations in early December. http://bit.ly/3vxgCUS 

Island Free Press | Joy Crist | Dec-22 

“Tourism officials outline plans for new indoor event center at Rodanthe meeting” 

  

 

 

 

 

  

  

Local tourism officials outlined recent Hatteras Island initiatives and the upcoming plan to build a 

48,000-square-foot event center at the current Soundside Event Site in Nags Head at a public meeting at 

the RWS Community Building on December 8. Thursday’s presentation was the latest stop in a series of 

meetings hosted by Dare County Tourism Board Chairman Tim Cafferty and the Outer Banks Visitors 

Bureau’s Executive Director Lee Nettles, in an eff ort to present the concept of the new event center, and 

explain the mechanics of the Tourism Board’s revenue and expenses. http://bit.ly/3FKNaRu 

Island Free Press | Staff | Dec-22 

“OBVB to host public meeting on Long-Range Tourism Management Plan on Jan. 24 in Buxton” 

 The Outer Banks Visitors Bureau (OBVB) has been working collaboratively with MMGY 

NextFactor, a consulting firm specializing in travel and tourism, to develop a Long-Range Tourism 

Management Plan to guide future tourism-related growth and development in Dare County. MMGY 

NextFactor, with oversight from the Task Force established to support this project, has been conducting 

interviews and focus groups with local civic, business and government leaders, and industry stakeholders 

in various sectors. http://bit.ly/3Q5agpv 

Island Free Press + Outer Banks Voice | Staff | Dec-22 

“‘It’s a whole new beginning’; Graveyard of the Atlantic Museum is undergoing a transformation” 

The Graveyard of the Atlantic Museum is in the middle of a transformation. The Hatteras village 

landmark, (which first opened in 2002), was slowly but continually stocked with new exhibits over the 

https://bit.ly/3BWyaxw
http://bit.ly/3vxgCUS
http://bit.ly/3FKNaRu
http://bit.ly/3Q5agpv


past 20 years, but as of early December 2022, the 7,500-square-foot space was a blank slate….Though 

the prospect of a remodel had been floating around for some time, in May 2021, the museum received a 

$4.1 million grant from the N.C. Department of Natural and Cultural Resources to conduct an overhaul of 

the Hatteras village site. Months later, Dare County and the Outer Banks Visitors Bureau stepped in with 

an extra $500,000 in funds, which the state then bolstered with an additional $400,000, resulting in a 

total of $5.1 million to bring the remodeling project to life. http://bit.ly/3YD0oaq 

Outer Banks Voice | Mark Jurkowitz | Dec-22 

“Tourism numbers ‘soften’ in new collections data” 

Nettles suggests something of a return to the pre-COVID era. In his recap of the Dec. 15 Dare County 

Tourism Board meeting, Outer Banks Visitors Bureau Executive Director Lee Nettles said that the more 

recent lodging and restaurant collections data suggest a slowing in the major tourism boom of the last 

few years. “Now as we’ve been cautioning and pointing out over time, we have seen some softening of 

the numbers and more of a move back to a normalization, kind of looking a bit more like 2019, pre-

COVID,” Nettles stated on the video recap of that Dec. 15 meeting. http://bit.ly/3VCEfpN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://bit.ly/3YD0oaq
http://bit.ly/3VCEfpN


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 


	Cover
	23 DCTB Directors 
	AGENDA 1 19 23
	2023 Slate Dare County Tourism Board
	MINUTES 121522
	Meals and Occupancy Report
	mealsoccupancy
	b1
	b2
	b3

	dashboard
	TOURISM SALES ACTIVITY-Board Report 011923
	TOURISM SALES ACTIVITY-Board Report 011923.pdf
	Binder1.pdf
	2023 Soundside Event Site Calendar Jan 23


	Jan 2023 Board Report + Packet-PR

